The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of the case. The representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

## Plaintiffs-Appellants

Anthony Trapani Jolynne Trapani Trapani's Eatery, Inc.

## Plaintiff-Appellants' Counsel

F. Gerald Maples Carl D. "Todd" Campbell, III F. Gerald Maples, P.A. 365 Canal Street, Suite 2600 New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

## **Defendants-Appellees**

David Treutel, Jr.
Treutel Insurance Agency, Inc.

## **Defendants-Appellees' Counsel**

Paul Delcambre, Jr.
P. Ann Bailey

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1) Whether the Trial Court erred in directing a verdict for the Defendants by failing to consider the testimony of Plaintiff Jolynne Trapani and making all reasonable inferences in her favor as required by Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 50.
- 2) Whether the Trial Court improperly redacted Page 5 of Plaintiffs' Exhibit P-15 as hearsay.
- 3) Whether the Trial Court improperly redacted portions of Plaintiffs' Exhibit P-16.
- 4) Whether the Trial Judge improperly excluded Plaintiffs' Exhibit P-17 as not being the best evidence.
- 5) Whether the Trial Judge erred in excluding Plaintiffs' expert Peter Quave.
- 6) As the wind insurer paid all the policy limits as placed, whether the Trial Court improperly allowed the Defendants to claim a defense never asserted by the insurer.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jolynne and Anthony "Tony" Trapani are the sole owners of Trapani's Eatery, Inc., a restaurant located in Bay St. Louis, Hancock County, Mississippi. Prior to Hurricane Katrina, the restaurant was located in a building along Beach Boulevard in Bay St. Louis at a lower risk "C" flood zone. In the mid-1990s, Jolynne and Tony Trapani bought the restaurant along with a partner whose share they purchased around 1999.<sup>2</sup> From approximately 1999 to the present, Jolynne and Tony Trapani have been the sole owners and operators of Trapani's Eatery, Inc., with Tony primarily charged with supervising the kitchen and Jolynne in charge of the restaurant's finances.3

Exhibit D-5, p. 5 (Treu-0120).
 Trial Transcript at 16, l. 6-27.
 Trial Transcript at 16, l. 11-27; 46, l. 10-13.

Several months after Hurricane Ivan struck the Alabama coast, Jolynne Trapani took her children on a visit to Florida, passing through Orange Beach, Alabama on their return ride home. There Jolynne Trapani saw the devastation of Hurricane Ivan and how many businesses were still not operating several months later. Although the Trapani's insurance on their restaurant had a policy year of November to November, near the beginning of the 2005 hurricane season, the devastation prompted Jolynne Trapani contacted her insurance company, Treutel Insurance Agency, Inc. to inquire about increasing coverage limits on the restaurant in the middle of the policy year. The Trapanis had purchased all their insurance for the restaurant through Treutel Insurance Agency for several years, primarily through their agent Ames Kergosian. But in 2005, Mr. Kergosian had developed some serious health problems, which impacted his ability to work. While Mr. Kergosian was in the hospital, David Treutel, Jr. took over some of Mr. Kergosian's files, including the Trapani's Eatery file.

One of the first actions David Treutel did was to have Jolynne Trapani sign a document making Treutel the agent for the Trapani's restaurant. During the course of three or four meetings from late May to early July 2005, David Treutel and Jolynne Trapani discussed a series of changes to the restaurant's policies. A number of the policy changes are not at issue here. For instance, Jolynne Trapani decided to purchase a flood policy on the restaurant, something it had not had since the Trapani's owned it, given its high elevation in Bay St. Louis. Other changes not in dispute included an increase in restaurant's general liability coverage from \$1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Trial Transcript at 17, l. 3-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Trial Transcript at 17, 1. 16 – 18, 1. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Trial Transcript at 19, 1. 1-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Trial Transcript at 19, l. 1-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Trial Transcript at 19, l. 18-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Exhibit P-11.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Trial Transcript at 19-27. This includes a telephonic meeting on June 30. See Trial Transcript at 128, l. 1-16.

million to \$2 million and the acquisition of a liquor bond. During these meetings David Treutel also convinced Jolynne Trapani to switch her and Tony's homeowner's insurance to a company for which Treutel was a broker. While Jolynne Trapani subsequently discovered a problem with the homeowner's insurance as placed by David Treutel, the homeowner's coverage is not part of this litigation.

In these meeting between Jolynne Trapani and David Treutel (in which no one else was present), the two discussed increasing the limits of coverage on the restaurant structure, the contents, and the business income. The restaurant was insured by two different companies, Safeco for Fire/Theft and XL for Wind/Hail. The coverage limits on the structure, contents and business interruption on the Fire/Theft policies had very similar limits to the corresponding coverages in the Wind/Hail policy. When the Trapani's renewed their policy in November 2004, the relevant Wind/Hail policies limits were: \$149,477 on the structure, \$76,794 on the contents and \$35,000 on the business interruption coverage. Again, after her visit to hurricane-devastated Orange Beach, Alabama, Jolynne Trapani saw a need to increase the Wind/Hail policies coverage limits and asked David Treutel to make the following changes:<sup>11</sup>

- Structure: Increase from \$149,477 to \$300,000
- Contents: Increase from \$76,794 to \$150,000
- Business Interruption: Increase from \$35,000 to \$300,000

The desired increase on the wind structure was not a reflection of what the property was worth, but rather how much damage Jolynne Trapani though the restaurant might sustain given its relatively high elevation and that it survived Hurricane Camille in 1969. A total loss was not contemplated.<sup>12</sup> Further adding to their desire to increase the insurance limits on the restaurant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Trial Transcript at 107-111.
<sup>12</sup> Trial Transcript at 24, l. 6 – 25, l. 15.

was the fact that the Trapanis had performed a renovation on the restaurant in January 2005 and had upgraded the restaurant's fixtures and contents. As for business interruption, the desired \$300,000 figure came from Jolynne Trapani after telephoning her account. Again, Jolynne Trapani's concern was having the restaurant covered for possible hurricane damage.

David Treutel failed to make any of the requested changes. Treutel increased the business interruption limits from \$35,000 to \$200,000, but not the correct \$300,000. He did raise the restaurant's contents limits to \$150,000 on the Fire/Theft policy, but failed to increase either the structure or contents on the Wind/Hail policy for this restaurant located in coastal Mississippi, despite the fact that the whole impetus of Jolynne Trapani requesting mid-year policy changes was her experience in hurricane devastated Alabama and the 2005 hurricane season that began on the 1<sup>st</sup> of June. As for the requested changes to the structure, contents, and business interruption policies made starting in late May 2005, neither David Treutel nor anyone from Treutel Insurance Agency contacted or informed the Trapanis that there was a delay or problem in raising the limits as requested. Defendants did not send any kind of notice or confirmation to Plaintiffs of the steps taken to increase limits until mailing out a form (Exhibit D-8) showing \$200,000 in business interruption. That form, dated August 26, 2005 was never received by the Plaintiffs.<sup>16</sup>

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina devastated Bay St. Louis and the rest of the Mississippi Gulf Coast. Plaintiffs' restaurant was a total loss; virtually nothing was left. After Katrina, Jolynne Trapani discovered for the first time that David Treutel did not increase the wind policy's limits on the structure and contents at all, and did not increase the business

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Trial Transcript at 24, l. 18-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Trial Transcript at 110, l. 5-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Trial Transcript at 41, 1. 13-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Trial Transcript at 143, l. 23 – 145, l. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Trial Transcript at 46, l. 14- 47, l. 6.

interruption limits as requested. Plaintiffs made the claims on the policies as placed, recovering the limits of the flood policy (\$100,000 structure and \$100,000 contents) and the limits under the wind policy as placed. The total payments did not compensate the Plaintiffs for all their losses.

David Treutel has disputed Jolynne Trapani's claims that she asked him to make any changes to the policies that he did not make. Plaintiffs filed suit in Hancock County Chancery Court on December 2, 2005. After discovery, and after a number of postponed trial dates and a transfer to Circuit Court, this matter went to trial in the Circuit Court of Hancock County. Judge Roger T. Clark presided over an trial just over two days in length. During that trial, the Trial Judge struck one of Plaintiffs' exhibits in its entirety and redacted two of Plaintiffs' exhibits. The Trial Court also disqualified Plaintiffs' expert Peter Quave. After the Plaintiffs rested, Defendants moved for a directed verdict, which the Trial Court granted. Plaintiffs appeal a number of evidentiary rulings made by the Trial Court as well as the Trial Court's decision to direct a verdict on all the policies instead of sending all or part of the case to the jury.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In directing a verdict for the Defendants, the Trial Court failed to consider the testimony of Jolynne Trapani in making a determination that Plaintiffs could not prove the elements of their case, contrary to the inferences and weight given to the non-moving party's testimony under Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 50. Also, the Trial Court abused its discretion in striking one of Plaintiffs' exhibits and ordering the redaction of two others. Although a trial court has considerable discretion with evidentiary rulings, those rulings can be reversed if there is an abuse of discretion and a party is prejudiced. Respectfully, the Trial Court made a number of rulings that warrant reversal and remand for a new trial.

First, the Trial Court erred in stepping into the shoes of the jury. The Trial Court made a decision to sustain the Defendants' Motion for a Directed Verdict as to all three coverages

(structure, contents and business interruption) on the basis that Plaintiffs were fully compensated for their losses. Such a determination completely discounts the testimony of Jolynne Trapani that the insurance proceeds the restaurant received did not come close to compensating them for their losses, particularly considering that the wind policy in place contained an endorsement providing for replacement cost of the structure. As discussed below, the adverse evidentiary rulings did cause Plaintiffs prejudice; however, Jolynne Trapani's testimony alone was sufficient for the matter to go to the jury. Counsel for the Defendants thoroughly cross-examined Jolynne Trapani, the Defendants introduced several pieces of evidence and Defendant David Treutel testified at great length. The jury could have made—and should have been able to make—the decision about whether it believed Jolynne Trapani's testimony about both the breach of the agent's duty and the extent of the damages suffered. As the sole manager of the business affairs of her business and sole source of income and employment for her and her husband, Jolynne Trapani's testimony—if believed—carries tremendous weight. That testimony alone was sufficient to overrule the Motion for Directed Verdict and allow the matter go to the jury.

Putting aside that Jolynne Trapani's testimony was enough to send the case to the jury, the Trial Court made a number of evidentiary determinations that allowed the Court a basis for directing a defense verdict. First, determining that portions of a Small Business Administration (SBA) loan application (Exhibit P-15) made under penalty of perjury did not fit the business records hearsay exceptions of Miss. R. Evid. 803(6). The two sources of the information were the SBA itself and Jolynne Trapani. What fits in a hearsay exception and what does not depends in large part on the reliability of the exception. A form submitted under penalty of perjury to a government agency containing one piece of data from that same agency, along with other data from a business owner applying for a business loan is not an unreliable document. Not

recognizing the reliability of the redacted portion of P-15 was an abuse of discretion that caused Plaintiff harm.

As for Exhibit P-16, a partial list of contents and structural components, the Court ordered the redaction of portions of the list it deemed not to be contents. Nevertheless, despite holding that the fixtures and other structural (i.e. non-contents) items on that list could be used to document some of the non-contents losses, the Trial Court ordered the exhibit to be redacted. If there was any confusion about Exhibit P-16 in terms of what were contents and what were not contents, any such confusion could have been cleared up by an instruction to the jury. Although the Trial Court did not let the matter go to the jury, Plaintiffs raise the redaction of P-16 as an error.

As for Exhibit P-17, stricken in its entirety, the Trial Court erred in its determination that P-17 was not the best evidence of the lost profits. Exhibit P-17, a computer printout of the restaurants daily gross sales was the starting point of any analysis of lost net income recoverable under the business interruption portion of the Plaintiffs' insurance policy. Jolynne Trapani was not only the ultimate source of that information, but was also the best person to explain and interpret the data, as she knew the restaurant's expenses better than anyone, including any outside accountants. Jolynne Trapani was the most knowledgeable person about the business's expenses from every utility bill to every pound of shrimp purchased. As the daily receipts were the starting point of any net income analysis and Jolynne Trapani was available to testify about the restaurant's expenses, excluding P-17 was an abuse of discretion. For the same reasons, the document is admissible under the business records exception of Miss. R. Evid. 803(6). Finally, counsel for defendants ably and thoroughly cross-examined Jolynne Trapani and her losses, including business interruption. As such, the Defendants would not have been prejudiced by the introduction of P-17.

Next, the Trial Court erred in disqualifying Plaintiffs' expert Peter Quave. There is no requirement that an expert have the same or virtually the same experience and certifications as the person about whose conduct he is opining. Mr. Quave had more than adequate background to testimony about Defendants' conduct, particularly regarding that his testimony would have been relatively limited in scope, focusing largely on two inquiries: could Defendants have possibly place the coverages requested by Jolynne Trapani and whether Defendants acted with the measure of diligence accepted in the insurance industry. As such, the Trial Court's decision to disqualify Peter Quave was an abuse of discretion.

Finally, the Trial Court erred by affording Defendants the same benefits the insurer would receive under the relevant policies, but not holding the Defendants to the same limitations as an insurer would face in defending a claim. In other words, the Trial Court allowed to Defendants to walk in the shoes of the insurer assuming a defense (that the damage was caused by an excluded peril) the insurer did not pursue as evidenced by its defense to pay policy limits and its acknowledge that Plaintiffs suffered damage in excess of limits as placed. 18 While Plaintiffs do not dispute that they have the burden of proof to prove the elements of negligence including damages, Defendants here should be estopped from raising defenses that the wind insurer did not raise, namely that windstorm forces in some measure contributed to the destruction of Plaintiffs' restaurant, its contents and its lost business income. While the defendants have disputed the business interruption losses above what was paid on the policies as placed, and the defendants have disputed the value of the totally destroyed structure and contents, it is undisputed that the building and its contents were a total loss. The flood insurer and the wind insurer each paid the respective limits on the policies as placed. As such, it is undisputed that the losses were caused by some combination of wind and flood.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See Exhibit P-14.

## **ARGUMENT**

# 1. The Trial Court Erred In Directing A Verdict On Each Of The Three Coverage Areas Instead of Allowing the Jury to Make the Factual Determinations.

The Trial Judge erred in directing a Verdict for the Defendants as Jolynne Trapani, the co-owner and everyday business manager of Trapani's Eatery, Inc., was qualified to testify about the value of the restaurant structure and its contents, as well as the restaurant's income and expenses. Additionally, no expert testimony was required to prove damages for the value of the structure, contents and business interruption losses.

Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 38 provides that "[t]he right of trial by jury...shall be preserved inviolate." A motion for a directed verdict under Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 50 "tests the legal sufficiency of the plaintiff's case." *Solanki v. Ervin*, 21 So.3d 552, 556 (Miss. 2009). In making a determination as to whether to grant a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is

to look solely to the testimony on behalf of the party against whom a directed verdict is requested. He will take such testimony as true along with all reasonable inferences which can be drawn from that testimony which is favorable to that party, and, if it could support a verdict for that party, the directed verdict should not be given. If reasonable minds might differ as to this question, it becomes a jury issue.

Id. (quoting White v. Thomason, 310 So.2d 914, 916-17 (Miss. 1975)(emphasis added).

A judgment granting a directed verdict under Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 50 is reviewed de novo.

Solanki, 21 So. 3d at 556.

The owner of property is qualified by her ownership alone to testify as to her property's value. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has held that a property owner could testify on the value of his home and the furnishings within it which were destroyed by fire. LaCombe v. A-T-O, Inc., 679 F.2d 431, 433-34 (1982). The court reasoned that the testimony is then "subject to attack through cross-examination or independent evidence refuting the owner's

estimate ... with the jury as fact-finder shouldering the responsibility of judging the credibility of the witness, resolving the conflicting evidence, and assessing the weight of opinion testimony."

Id. at 434 (quoting Kestenbaum v. Falstaff Brewing Corp., 514 F.2d 690, 699 (5th Cir. 1975)).

The court concluded that the owner's testimony as to the value of his property was admissible despite the fact that the owner may have been relying to some extent on hearsay. Lacombe, 679 F.2d at 435-436. The court further stated the general principle, acknowledged in the Fifth circuit, that the owner of property is qualified by his ownership alone to testify as to its value. United States v. 329.73 Acres of Land, 666 F.2d 281, 284 (5th Cir. 1982) (land); Dietz v. Consolidated Oil & Gas, Inc., 643 F.2d 1088, 1094 (5th Cir. 1981) (growing crops); Meredith v. Hardy, 554 F.2d 764, 765 (5th Cir. 1977) (trucks, camper and personal property); Kestenbaum v. Falstaff Brewing Corp., 514 F.2d 690, 698 (5th Cir. 1975), ("good will" value of a business); Berkshire Mut. Ins. Co. v. Moffett, 378 F.2d 1007, 1011 (5th Cir. 1967) (personal property).

As for contents in particular, a witness may testify to the value of those lost or damaged contents based upon personal knowledge. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that a witness may use a previously prepared list detailing items lost in a house fire in order to more fully testify as to the lost contents and their estimated valued. *New Orleans & Northeastern R. Co. v. Bryant*, 46 So.2d 433, 435-36 (1950)(in banc). There, the Bryant family had sustained losses in a house fire and prepared a detailed list of the various articles destroyed by the fire, placing values opposite such listed articles. *Id.* at 435. At trial, two Bryant family members had a copy of this list before them as they testified on the stand to the destroyed articles and their values. *Id.* The lower court sustained an objection as to the reading to the jury the various values shown on the list but permitted the witnesses to state their personal knowledge of the various articles and their estimate of the articles' values. *Id.* One witness testified that she helped purchase much of the

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