IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

TRAPANI'S EATERY, INC.; ANTHONY TRAPANI; and JOLYNNE TRAPANI

APPELLANTS

V.

DOCKET NO. 2011-CA-00092

TREUTEL INSURANCE AGENCY, INC. AND DAVID TREUTEL

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES PAUL J. DELCAMBRE, JR. (MSP P. ANN BAILEY (MSB Balch & Bingham LLP Post Office Box 130 Gulfport, MS 39502 Telephone: (228) 864-9900 Facsimile: (228) 864-8221

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

In order to determine whether Trapani had proven their damages, it was first necessary for the trial court to determine how much Trapani would have been entitled to recover from XL under the terms of the XL policy, if the coverage limits had been increased to the level that Trapani claimed they requested. That is, they had to prove that they had a loss cause by a covered peril (windstorm); and that XL would have paid them for damage to their property from that peril an amount greater than they had already been paid. They could not recover for any damage that would not have been paid by XL, even if the increased limits had been obtained. That is, they would not be entitled to recover any damage that would have been excluded under the terms of the policy, i.e. flood. Therefore, the cause of the damage was a necessary element

of their proof, and the trial judge properly considered whether it was caused by a covered peril (wind), or by an excluded peril (water).

When damage is caused from both wind and water during a hurricane, it is now well accepted that the burden first falls on the insured to prove that there was damage from a covered risk, in this case wind and how much. If there is a claim that all or part of the damage is caused by an excluded peril, in this case water, then the party seeking the benefit of the exclusion, in this case Treutel, has the burden of establishing the amount of damage caused by the excluded peril. In order to prove their damages, Trapani had to prove or establish that the amount of their loss or damage caused by wind or hail exceeded the \$249,477.00 which they were paid under the coverage for the structure, the \$176,794.00 that they were paid for personal property, and in excess of the \$200,000.00 that they were paid for loss of business income. Corban v. United Services Automobile Association, 20 So. 3d 601, 618-19 (Miss. 2009); Lunday v. Lititz Mut. Ins. Co., 276 So. 2d 696, 698 (Miss. 1973). See also, Leonard v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., **499 F. 3d 419, 429 (5th Cir. 2007)** Trapani received \$100,000.00 for damage to the structure under the flood insurance policy and \$100,000.00 for loss or damage to business personal property under their flood insurance policy. Once they had accepted benefits for a loss under their flood insurance policy, it became a judicial admission that the structure and personal property sustained storm surge or water damage in an amount at least equal to the amount of benefits which they had received. Sanders v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., Inc., 2008 WL 5120679 at *1 (S.D. Miss. Dec. 3, 2008); Letoha v. Nationwide Ins. Co., 2007 WL 2059991 at *2 (S.D. Miss. July 12, 2007); Ruiz v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 2007 WL 1514015 at *5 (S.D. Miss., May 21, 2007); Espinosa v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 2008 WL 276534

at *1-2 (S.D. Miss. Jan. 30, 2008).⁵⁹ Therefore, Treutel carried the burden of proving damage or loss from the excluded peril. As is argued in greater detail in Treutel's rebuttal to Trapani's first assignment of error,⁶⁰ Trapani failed to produce any admissible evidence to establish that they suffered a loss from the peril of wind in excess of the amount that they were paid by XL. Consequently, they failed to prove that they sustained any damages.

<u>CONCLUSION</u>

As Plaintiffs, it was Trapani's burden to present to the Court sufficient evidence which, when examined in a light most favorable to them, established the four essential elements of a negligence claim. They wholly failed to produce enough evidence that would allow a reasonable juror to conclude that they would have recovered any more money from XL under any peril against which they were insured than the amount that they were in fact paid following Hurricane Katrina. They did not produce any evidence that could be remotely considered to have been relevant under the terms of the policy issued to them. As a result, they failed to present sufficient evidence that they sustained any damage which was proximately caused by any act or failure to act on the part of Treutel.

The evidence excluded by the trial court would not have changed the outcome. The exhibits, or parts thereof that were excluded, were properly excluded under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. It was the failure of Trapani to produce and offer admissible evidence that led to the dismissal of their case. The issues were not complicated. They did not need expert testimony, and particularly from someone who had never sold property and casualty insurance and had never worked in an office that sold such insurance.

⁵⁹ These are all insurance disputes arising out of Hurricane Katrina decided in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi under its diversity jurisdiction and applying Mississippi law.

⁶⁰ Brief of Appellee, supra., 12-18.

For all the reasons cited herein, the Court should affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court of Hancock County, Mississippi.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, this the 24th day of August, 2011.

Treutel Insurance Agency, Inc. and David Treutel, By and through Their Attorneys of Record

BALCH & BINGHAM, LLP

By: Paul J. Delcambre, Jr.

PAUL J. DELCAMBRE, JR. (MSB P. ANN BAILEY (MSB Balch & Bingham LLP Post Office Box 130 Gulfport, MS 39502 Telephone: (228) 864-9900 Facsimile: (228) 864-8221

VPPENDIX

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2008 WL 5003237 (S.D.Miss.) (Cite as: 2008 WL 5003237 (S.D.Miss.))

H Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court, S.D. Mississippi, Southern Division. Billy Dale SANDERS and Judy Dianne Sanders, Plaintiffs

v. NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendants.

Civil Action No. 1:07CV988 LTS-RHW. Nov. 20, 2008.

Earl L. Denham, <u>Kristopher W. Carter</u>, Dustin N. Thomas, Denham Law Firm, Ltd., Ocean Springs, MS, for Plaintiffs.

Christian D.H. Schultz-PHV, Kenneth S. Clark-PHV, Padraic B. Fennelly-PHV, Robert B. Gilmore-PHV, Kirkland & Ellis, LLP, Washington, DC, <u>F. Hall Bailey, Janet McMurtray, Laura Limerick Gibbes</u>, Watkins Ludlam Winter & Stennis, P.A., Jackson, MS, for Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER L.T. SENTER, JR., Senior Judge.

*1 The Court has before it Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company's (Nationwide) Motion for Judicial Estoppel [114]. This motion has two parts:

First, Nationwide asks the Court to find, as it has on many other occasions, that the plaintiffs' having accepted flood insurance benefits is a judicial admission that the insured property sustained flood damage at least equal to the benefits the plaintiffs collected. This part of Nationwide's motion will be granted.

Second, Nationwide asks the Court to find that the plaintiffs are estopped from presenting evidence that the insured building (the plaintiffs' dwelling and other structures) had a greater value at the time of loss than the value reflected in documents prepared in connection with the plaintiffs' Mississippi Development Authority (MDA) grant. This part of Nationwide's motion will be denied.

Basic Undisputed Facts

At the time of Hurricane Katrina, plaintiffs owned a home at 408 Graveline Road, Gautier, Mississippi. The plaintiffs' home and its contents were destroyed in the storm. Plaintiffs' Nationwide homeowners policy (number 63 23 MP 065 096) provides coverage limits of \$199,400 (dwelling), \$19,940 (other structures) \$145,815 (personal property), and \$39,880 (loss of use). Nationwide has paid, under this homeowners policy, \$94,266.92 (check number 0077107779) for wind damage to the plaintiffs' \$6,271.77 dwelling and (check number 00771077780) for wind damage to the plaintiffs' other structures. Nationwide has also paid \$9,000 in additional living expenses, but that coverage has not yet been exhausted. There has been no payment under the homeowners policy for damage to the plaintiffs' personal property.

Plaintiffs' Standard Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP), also sold by Nationwide, provided limits of \$108,900 (building) and \$49,700 (contents). The flood insurance limits have been tendered by Nationwide and accepted by the plaintiffs. The remaining dispute centers on the question of what damage was done by wind (a loss covered by the Nationwide homeowners policy) versus that done by storm surge flooding (a loss excluded by the Nationwide homeowners policy).

Calculation of the Plaintiffs' Uncompensated Losses

The documents now in the record do not conclusively establish the pre-storm value of the insured dwelling. The "Homeowners Assistance Grant To-Do List" indicates that the dwelling had an "Insurable Value" of \$219,340 and an "Allied Cost to Repair" of \$280,760. These are the figures that Nationwide is asking the Court to accept as an upper limit for the plaintiffs' total claim for damages to their insured dwelling. I cannot determine the identity of the firm nor the individual who made these estimates. I infer that these figures do not include the value of the contents of the plaintiffs' dwelling nor the value of the plaintiffs' other insured structures. The MDA grant program does not purport to take the value of per-

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2008 WL 5003237 (S.D.Miss.) (Cite as: 2008 WL 5003237 (S.D.Miss.))

sonal property or other structures into consideration. This document is not signed by the plaintiffs, and there is no indication that it was the plaintiffs who made this estimate of the value of their insured property.

*2 This document does state: "If any of the information below has been reported in error, please contact us immediately at 1-866-369-6302." MDA furnished the plaintiffs a copy of this document, and Nationwide asserts that because the plaintiffs did not contest this figure, they should not be allowed to present evidence that their home has a higher pre-storm value. While this estimate, if properly authenticated and sponsored, may be evidence that is relevant to the issue of the pre-storm value of the insured property, I do not believe it is conclusive on this issue of fact. Nor do I believe that the plaintiffs' having accepted the MDA grant that contains this estimate constitutes an admission or an affirmation that this value is accurate. Insured value may be different from actual cash value or replacement cost, and it is these latter values, rather than the insured value, that are potentially relevant in calculating benefits under the insurance coverage at issue.

The pre-storm value of the insured property (the dwelling, its contents, and other structures) represents the maximum recovery the plaintiffs may obtain from all applicable insurance coverages under the indemnity principles Unless the insurance policy under consideration provides coverage for replacement cost, inflation, or other factors that may cause the insurance benefits to exceed the pre-storm value of the building (and the plaintiffs' Nationwide homeowners policy does contain provisions of this type), the prestorm value of the insured property provides a ceiling on the amount of the plaintiffs' total potential insurance recovery from all sources.

The current remaining Nationwide homeowners policy limit for the insured dwelling is \$105,133.08 (dwelling limits of \$199,400 less benefits of \$94,266.92 paid for windstorm damage to the dwelling) and the remaining Nationwide policy limit for other buildings is \$13,668.23 (other structures limits of \$19,940 less benefits of \$6,271.77). The plaintiffs' maximum recovery in this action under their Nationwide homeowners policy will be the lesser of: a) the remaining Nationwide coverage; or b) the amount of uncompensated wind damage to the insured property that is established by the evidence (taking into consideration both the payments made by Nationwide under its homeowners policy and the payments made under the plaintiffs' SFIP). The plaintiffs' recovery would be enhanced to account for inflation, in accordance with the terms of the Nationwide homeowners policy.

I will grant Nationwide's Motion for Judicial Estoppel [114] to the extent that the plaintiffs' application for the MDA grant constitutes an admission that there was some amount of flood damage to the plaintiffs' home, and I will deny the remainder of this motion.

Accordingly, it is

ORDERED

That the motion [114] of Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company [114] is **GRANTED IN PART** and **DENIED IN PART** in accordance with the terms set out above.

*3 SO ORDERED.

S.D.Miss.,2008. Sanders v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2008 WL 5003237 (S.D.Miss.)

END OF DOCUMENT

H

.

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

This decision was reviewed by West editorial staff and not assigned editorial enhancements.

United States District Court, S.D. Mississippi, Southern Division. Billy Dale SANDERS and Judy Dianne Sanders, Plaintiffs v. NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant.

Civil Action No. 1:07CV988 LTS-RHW. Dec. 3, 2008.

Earl L. Denham, <u>Kristopher W. Carter</u>, Dustin N. Thomas, Denham Law Firm, Ltd., Ocean Springs, MS, for Plaintiffs.

Christian D.H. Schultz-PHV, Kenneth S. Clark-PHV, Padraic B. Fennelly-PHV, Robert B. Gilmore-PHV, Kirkland & Ellis, LLP, Washington, DC, <u>F. Hall Bailey, Laura Limerick Gibbes</u>, Watkins Ludlam Winter & Stennis, P.A., Jackson, MS, for Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER L.T. SENTER, JR., Senior Judge.

*1 The Court has before it plaintiffs' Motion for Estoppel [111]. Plaintiffs are seeking a ruling that certain payments made by Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company (Nationwide) constitute evidentiary admissions.

Plaintiffs' dwelling and personal property were destroyed during Hurricane Katrina. The cause of this destruction is the fact issue at the heart of this litigation. Loss or damage caused by windstorm is covered under the plaintiffs' Nationwide homeowners policy, but there is a valid policy exclusion within this coverage for damage caused by storm surge flooding.

Plaintiffs had both a homeowners policy and a

Standard Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP) sold by Nationwide. The limits of the plaintiffs' SFIP coverage have been paid, and I have ruled in this and other cases that acceptance of flood insurance benefits is an admission by the recipient that the insured property was damaged by storm surge flooding to the extent of the SFIP benefits accepted.

Plaintiffs in this action ask that the Court apply the converse of this rule to Nationwide's payment of benefits under its homeowners policy. Nationwide has paid \$94,266.92 for wind damage to the plaintiffs' dwelling and \$6,271.77 for wind damage to plaintiffs' other insured structures. Plaintiffs assert that Nationwide should not be allowed to deny that covered wind damage occurred, at least to the extent of the payments Nationwide made under the plaintiffs' homeowners policy.

Nationwide objects to the plaintiffs' request, but Nationwide does not deny that it made these payments, totaling \$100,538.69, for wind damage to the insured property. Nationwide has stated as much in writing. In its July 19, 2007, cover letter for these payments Nationwide states: "Based on all available and reliable evidence, we have attempted to calculate and separate the damages caused by wind from those caused by flood. Based on our review of the evidence, we believe that there may be circumstances supporting an additional payment on [the plaintiffs'] claim ... We are enclosing a check for the amount of damages which we believe we owe at this time for damages caused during Hurricane Katrina."

These statements are admissions for evidentiary purposes, and I do not believe there could be a clearer indication that Nationwide had concluded, at the time this letter was written, that the plaintiffs' dwelling and other structures had sustained \$100,538.69 in wind damage during the storm. I have seen no indication that Nationwide intends to contradict or disclaim these admissions, and Nationwide has stated, in its response to this motion, that it will not undertake to contradict these admissions at trial. In light of Nationwide's admissions, and in light of Nationwide's representations to the Court, I will deny the plaintiffs' motion because I believe it to be moot. The denial will be without prejudice to the plaintiffs' right to

reassert this motion in the event Nationwide undertakes to present evidence to contradict its admissions.

*2 Accordingly, it is

ORDERED

That the plaintiffs' Motion for Estoppel [111] is hereby **DENIED AS MOOT**, without prejudice.

SO ORDERED.

S.D.Miss.,2008. Sanders v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2008 WL 5120679 (S.D.Miss.)

END OF DOCUMENT

(Cite as: 2008 WL 4861698 (S.D.Miss.))

Н

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court, S.D. Mississippi, Southern Division. Dr. William S. ROSS and Cynthia Ross, Plaintiffs v. METROPOLITAN PROPERTY AND CASU-ALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, et al., Defendants.

Civil Action No. 1:07CV521 LTS-RHW. Oct. 24, 2008.

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